## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,134

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 19 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By \_\_\_\_\_\_\_Cited Deputy Olerk

TIVAN JOHNSON,

Appellant,

vs.

## THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender, Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida (305) 545-1961

BRENT E. NEWTON Assistant Public Defender, (Withdrew Florida Bar No. 0075825

CHRISTINA A. SPAULDING Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 995320

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

####

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an automatic direct appeal from judgments of conviction and sentence -including a death sentence -- entered following a jury trial before the Honorable Arthur I. Snyder of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Dade County.<sup>1</sup> On July 3, 1991, a Dade County grand jury returned an indictment charging Appellant and his co-defendant, Albert Cooper, with: (1) the first-degree murder of Charles Barker; (2) the armed burglary of a pawnshop owned and operated by Charles Barker; and (3) the armed robbery of Charles Barker; and (4) the commission of one or more felonies while "unlawfully and feloniously display[ing] firearm(s)," in violation of Florida Statutes, § 790.07. (R. 1-3.) Appellant, who was 20 years old at the time of the alleged offenses, pled not guilty to all four counts.

After a joint trial of Appellant and his co-defendant Cooper in 1995, the jury convicted Appellant of all four counts. (R. 263-66; Tr. 2434.)<sup>2</sup> After a joint sentencing hearing in front of the advisory jury, jurors, by votes of 8-4, recommended death sentences for both Appellant and co-defendant Cooper for their respective first-degree murder convictions. (Tr. 3408-09.) The trial court followed the advisory jury's recommendations and sentenced both Appellant and his co-defendant to death. After departing from the sentencing guidelines'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In this brief, the clerk's record on appeal is cited as "R." and the court reporter's transcription of the proceedings is cited as "Tr."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The jury also convicted co-defendant Cooper of all four counts.

recommended sentences, the trial court additionally sentenced Appellant to two consecutive life sentences for the armed burglary and armed robbery convictions and, pursuant to Florida Statutes, § 775.087(2), imposed two three-year minimum mandatory terms of imprisonment on those two counts. (R. 644-45.) The trial court vacated Appellant's conviction for committing a felony while possessing a firearm. (R. 648.)

No

The evidence at trial established the following: The State's first witness, Debra Barker, testified that she was married to the decedent, Charles Barker, at the time of his death. (Tr. 1216.) Mr. Barker owned and operated the Outpost Pawnshop in Dade County. (Tr. 1216.) On Saturday, May 25, 1991, Mrs. Barker was expecting her husband to arrive home around 5:30 p.m., as he usually did after closing the pawnshop at 5:00 p.m. (Tr. 1217.) When Mr. Barker did not arrive home by 6:00 p.m., Mrs. Barker became worried and requested that her friend, Marjorie Bower, go to the pawnshop. (Tr. 1219-20.) Bower agreed to drive to the pawnshop and check on Mr. Barker. Thereafter, Bower's husband informed Mrs. Barker that her husband had been killed. (Tr. 1221.) Mrs. Barker further testified that her husband, a former police officer, regularly wore a pistol on his hip when he The State's second witness was worked at the pawnshop. (Tr. 1224.) teritori constanti den consta angen anne dinacci cazoro fece Marjorie Bower. (Tr. 1231.) Bower testified about being called by Mrs. Barker and being asked to go to the Outpost Pawnshop to see if anything had happened to Mr. Barker. (Tr. 1233.) Sometime after 7:00 p.m., Bower entered the pawnshop, where she heard loud music playing. (Tr. 1236.) Bower looked through a Dutch

door that led to a back room in the pawnshop and saw blood on the floor. (Tr. 1239.) She then exited the pawnshop and located a nearby police officer, who called for back-up officers. (Tr. 1240.)

The State's third witness was Metro-Dade Police Officer Frankie Lee Buckner, Jr. Officer Buckner testified that on May 25, 1991, he was employed as a uniformed patrol officer, but was moonlighting as a security guard in a building located near the Outpost Pawnshop. Shortly after 7:00 p.m., Buckner was approached by Marjorie Bower, who asked him to go to the pawnshop. (Tr. 1258, 1269.) Before entering the pawnshop, Buckner radioed for a police backup. Accompanied by other officers, Buckner went inside the pawnshop, where he found Charles Barker behind the counter "lying on the floor with several gunshot wounds." (1260-61.) Barker's dead body was found inside the pawnshop's office; the office had a Dutch door. (Tr. 1263, 1271.)

The State's fourth witness was Robert Latta. Latta testified that he worked for Charles Barker in May of 1991 at the Outpost Pawnshop. (Tr. 1281.) According to Latta, at the close of an usual business day (shortly after 5:00 p.m.), Barker would count his daily cash receipts on a stool inside the pawnshop's office. (Tr. 1290.) Barker regularly wore an exposed Colt .45 pistol on his hip while working at the pawnshop. (Tr. 1291.) A week after Barker was killed, Latta went into the pawnshop. Latta noticed that a Mossberg shotgun was missing from the gun rack inside the pawnshop. (Tr. 1295.) Latta was then shown a Mossberg shotgun by the prosecutor. Latta stated that "this appears to be like the gun that was on the

ಕ್ಷ್ಮೆ ೧೫೫೭ ಹಿನ್ನೆಗಳನು ಕಣ್ಣುವರೆ ಕರ್ಮ

1488-1194-506.

rack." (Tr. 1295.) Latta also testified that he noticed that two other guns were missing from the pawnshop, a Cobray nine millimeter pistol and a Mac-10 semiautomatic pistol. (Tr. 1296.) The prosecutor asked Latta to identify a pawn slip with the name Benjamin Brown on it, which was dated 4:42 p.m., May 25, 1991. Latta testified that Brown was a "regular customer" at the Outpost Pawnshop. (Tr. 1313-14.)

On cross-examination, counsel for Appellant asked Latta if Charles Barker had a license to sell firearms at the pawnshop. Latta responded affirmatively, but also stated in response to a question from counsel that Barker did not have a license to sell automatic weapons. (Tr. 1328.) Latta also testified that Benjamin Brown was routinely not asked to show identification when he pawned property because he was a known customer. (Tr. 1345.) Instead, because Barker and Latta were familiar with Brown, they would simply have Brown sign and fingerprint a pawn slip, give him money for a pawn, and then would later fill out the relevant information for Brown's transactions on a pawn slip (*e.g.*, his address) based on information contained in the pawnshop's files. (Tr. 1346.) Latta also testified that when Charles Barker recorded the time of a transaction, it was invariably correct; Barker was meticulous at recording times because of a Dade County ordinance that prohibited pawn transactions after 5:00 p.m. (Tr. 1348.)<sup>3</sup> Latta further testified that no one had ever done a "complete inventory" of the property in the pawnshop

<sup>3</sup> Dade County authorities reviewed the pawn slips on a daily basis. (Tr. 1368.)

after Barker's death and, thus, he could not determine what property, if any, was missing (besides the three guns mentioned previously). (Tr. 1352.) According to Latta, the pawnshop was poorly organized at the time of Barker's death. (Tr. 1354.)

The State's fifth witness was Benjamin Brown. Brown testified that he had been a part-time worker at the Outpost Pawnshop and also a regular customer in 1991 and, thus, knew the pawnshop's proprietor, Charles Barker. (Tr. 1379-80.) Brown testified that he went into the pawnshop around closing time on May 25, 1991. (Tr. 1384.) Brown was shown a pawn slip dated May 25, 1991, with his name on it. He identified it as the slip which memorialized his pawn transaction on that date. (Tr. 1384.) The slip stated that the transaction occurred at 4:42 p.m. (Tr. 1384.) Brown testified that when he entered the pawnshop shortly before closing time on May 25th, he was let in by "a guy" -- an apparent customer -- who was already inside the shop. (Tr. 1386.) According to Brown, two other apparent customers were also inside the shop, along with Barker. (Tr. 1387, 1389.) All three of the apparent customers were black males. (Tr. 1390.) The person who opened the door for Brown told Barker that Brown could do his pawn transaction first since he was carrying a heavy tool. (Tr. 1388.) According to Brown, "when I got up to the front of the desk [Barker] didn't look the same" and acted differently. "We was looking kind of weird like." (Tr. 1392.) In particular, the normal jovial Barker did not joke with Brown, as he always did whenever Brown came to pawn something. (Tr. 1392-93.) "This day he didn't open his mouth to me." (Tr.

1393.) Brown testified that he put his fingerprint on the pawn slip at 4:42 p.m. (Tr. 1394.) Brown identified Appellant's co-defendant, Albert Cooper, as being one of the three black males who were inside the pawnshop shortly before closing time on May 25, 1991. (Tr. 1400.) Brown was not able to identify Appellant as one of the three black males.

On cross-examination, Brown testified that he did not fill out the pawn slip bearing his name and dated May 25, 1991. Rather, he only signed it and placed a thumbprint on it, and Barker then gave him money for his tool that was pawned. (Tr. 1401.) Brown explained that the home address that was recorded on the pawnslip -- 2166 N.W. 74th St. -- had been his address when he first began to pawn items many years ago. Brown's address on May 25, 1991, was 75 N.W. 68th Terrace. The reason that the former address was on the pawn slip was because, after Brown left the pawnshop, Barker had referred to outdated information in his files when he filled out the pawn slip for Brown. (Tr. 1402-09.) Brown further testified that Barker repaired weapons in the pawnshop. Barker had a friend from the Army who came into the shop and worked on weapons with tools. (Tr. 1426-27.)

The State's sixth witness was Metro-Dade Police Officer Tommy Stokes, who was a crime scene investigator in the instant case. (Tr. 1435.) Stokes was shown pictures and sketches of the crime scene and was asked to identify pictures of bullet projectiles and casings that were under or nearby the dead body of Charles Barker. (Tr. 1441.) According to Stoker, the bullet casings were ejected from a

.380 semi-automatic weapon. (Tr. 1442-50, 1477.) Stoker also testified that he removed certain papers from the pawnshop and submitted them for fingerprint analysis. (Tr. 1460.) On cross-examination, Stoker testified that the police failed to check Charles Barker's hands for residue which would have indicated whether he had fired a weapon. (Tr. 1492.) A .25 caliber pistol was found underneath Barker's dead body. (Tr. 1481).

The State's seventh witness was Metro-Dade Police Detective Pasqual ("Pat") Diaz, a member of the homicide division and the "lead" detective in the instant case. (Tr. 1494, 1512.) Diaz testified that Charles Barker's assistant, Robert Latta, was unable to do a complete inventory of the merchandise in the Outpost Pawnshop at the time of Barker's death. Thus, police were unable to determine what guns, if any, were missing from the pawnshop after Barker's death. (Tr. 1500-01, 1509.) Diaz also testified that he had conducted a pre-trial photographic identification procedure with Benjamin Brown and that Brown had identified Albert Cooper as one of the three black males whom Brown had seen in the pawnshop on the afternoon of May 25, 1991. However, Brown did not identify Appellant. (Tr.

1503, 1515.)

The State's eighth witness was Detective William Saladrigas. Over defense objection, Saladrigas testified that, in mid-June of 1991, he first came in contact with Appellant and his co-defendant Cooper in connection with an "unrelated matter." (Tr. 1524-25.) The police interviewed Appellant and Cooper regarding that other matter for 10-12 hours and then Saladrigas advised Detective Diaz that

he should talk to them about the murder of Charles Barker. (Tr. 1527.)

The State's ninth witness was Timothy Thanos. Thanos testified that in 1991 he lived in the Hidden Garden Apartments in Dade County. (Tr. 1532.)<sup>4</sup> At the apartment complex, Thanos met Appellant and Albert Cooper, who also resided there. (Tr. 1533-34.) Sometime in June of 1991, Appellant and Cooper -- along with Renee Carey, Appellant's then-wife, and her baby -- moved into Thanos' apartment after they were evicted from their own apartment. (Tr. 1536.) Appellant and Cooper put their property into a rented U-Haul truck. (Tr. 1537.) Thanos further testified that, approximately two weeks before Appellant and Cooper were arrested by police at the Hidden Garden Apartments in mid-June of 1991, Appellant told Thanos that "he had robbed a pawnshop, shot a guy a few times, unloaded a pistol on him ....." (Tr. 1539-40.) Thanos also testified that he had seen Appellant and Cooper in the possession of "several" guns. (Tr. 1540-41.) In particular, Thanos saw Appellant with a .38 caliber pistol. (Tr. 1545.)

The State's tenth witness was Metro-Dade Police Officer Salvatore Garafalo. Garafalo testified that he went to the Hidden Gardens Apartments on June 14, 1991, to arrest Appellant and Albert Cooper. (Tr. 1560-61.) Garafalo arrested Albert Cooper in a U-Haul truck. (Tr. 1564.) The U-Haul truck was impounded by the police. (Tr. 1565.) The State's eleventh witness was Metro-Dade Police Sgt.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Thanos admitted that he had been convicted of a crime fives times and also that he had a "drug problem" (with crack cocaine) on and off for a decade. (Tr. 1532, 1546-49, 1553.)

Appellant w impounded f The State testified that Albert Coop and Appellant that sometin Cooper were Appellant ar "take guns." understood asked Cooper Cooper then

John Methrin, who testified that he arrested Appellant on June 14, 1991. Appellant was driving a silver Ford Probe automobile. (Tr. 1568-72.) The car was impounded by the police. (Tr. 1571.)

The State's twelfth witness was Admonia Patricia Blount-Coleman. Coleman testified that she was 14 years old in mid-1991 and was romantically involved with Albert Cooper. (Tr. 1574-77.) Coleman stated that she drove around with Cooper and Appellant in a silver Ford automobile. (Tr. 1578.) Coleman further testified that sometime in May of 1991 -- approximately 2-3 weeks before Appellant and Cooper were arrested (Tr. 1583, 1598) -- she overheard a conversation between Appellant and Cooper in which Cooper said that he wanted to rob a pawnshop and "take guns." According to Coleman, Appellant said, "I'm down," which she understood to mean, "[t]hat he's with it." (Tr. 1580.) Appellant then allegedly asked Cooper, "[y]ou want the money from the cash register, too?" (Tr. 1582.) Cooper then stated that "he [i.e., Cooper] will hold him [i.e., the person working inside the pawnshop] because he's stronger than Tivan, and Tivan would shoot him." (Tr. 1584.) (Tr. 1584.) Cooper stated that "[t]hey were going to splat him," *i.e.*, kill the man inside the pawnshop. (Tr. 1584.) When the prosecutor repeatedly asked Coleman how Appellant responded to Cooper's stated intent to kill the unidentified man in the pawnshop, Coleman either gave no response or said that she did not remember. (Tr. 1584-85.) Coleman testified that Cooper later admitted that he "kill[ed] somebody at the pawnshop" and that "it took a lot of shots to get him down because he was very big." Cooper also allegedly admitted

that "they took guns from the pawnshop." (Tr. 1585.)

On cross-examination, Coleman agreed that when Cooper and Appellant talked about robbing and killing the pawnshop owner, it was "as if the man owed [Cooper] money." (Tr. 1595, 1604.) Coleman testified that Cooper said that he had "worked at that pawnshop." (Tr. 1595.) On re-direct examination, the prosecution, over defense objection, introduced Coleman's 1991 statement given to police, in which she stated that Appellant and Cooper had discussed their roles in the robbery and killing of the pawnshop owner in her presence. (Tr. 1613-17.)

The State next re-called Officer Tommy Stoker, a Metro-Dade crime scene technician, as a witness. Stoker testified that he had "processed" the Ford Probe and the U-Haul truck impounded by the police. (Tr. 1629.) Stoker testified that a five-shot .38 caliber pistol and ammunition were recovered from the U-Haul. (Tr. 1644-46.) The State's thirteenth witness was Metro-Dade Police Detective Mike Santos. Santos testified that he participated in the search of the impounded vehicles. Santos identified a U-Haul rental agreement which showed that the truck had been rented to Albert Cooper on June 3, 1991. (Tr. 1669.)

The State's fourteenth witness was Dr. Jay Barnhart, Jr., the State's medical examiner. (Tr. 1678.)<sup>5</sup> Dr. Barnhart opined that the cause of Charles Barker's death was a fatal gunshot wound through the heart. (Tr. 1694.) Barker's body

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Dr. Barnhart did not conduct the autopsy of Charles Barker; rather, his assistant, Dr. Cynthia Beisser, conducted it. However, Dr. Barnhart testified about the autopsy based on Dr. Beisser's records. (Tr. 1685.)

had a total of 12 gunshot wounds. (Tr. 1687, 1712.)

The State's fifteenth witness was Metro-Dade Police Detective Michael Jones. Jones testified that he took a sworn statement from Albert Cooper at 3:35 a.m. on June 15, 1991. In that statement, Cooper confessed to participating in the robbery and fatal shooting of Charles Barker. (Tr. 1765 *et seq.*) According to Cooper's confession, he was armed with a .380 semi-automatic pistol and Appellant was armed with a five-shot .38 caliber pistol when they went into the Outpost Pawnshop at approximately 4:50 p.m. on May 25, 1991. (Tr. 1771-73, 1777.) Cooper admitted that he fired the first shot into the victim's chest. (Tr. 1775.) After Cooper fired a second time, "then Tivan pulled his weapon and began firing, also." (Tr. 1776.) According to Cooper, the two shot the victim a total of 13 times -- Cooper shooting seven times, and Appellant shooting six times. (Tr. 1776-77.)<sup>6</sup> Cooper stated that the pawnshop's "owner tr[ied] to draw his weapon." (Tr. 1776.) After they shot the pawnshop owner, Appellant and Cooper took money and guns from the pawnshop. (Tr. 1778.)

The prosecution then re-called Detective Pasqual Diaz, who testified about Appellant's custodial statement given to police. During the early morning hours of June 15, 1991, Diaz interviewed Appellant about the pawnshop robbery and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> According to Cooper, Appellant fired five shots at Barker and then re-loaded and fired a sixth shot at Barker's jaw, which "came out the top of [Barker's] head." (Tr. 1777.) The State's medical examiner testified that one of the bullets in Barker's body entered his cheek and exited "just beside the right eye." (Tr. 1692.) As discussed infra, in Appellant's confession, he stated that he did not shoot Barker in the head.

shooting of Charles Barker. (Tr. 1800-02.) Before a formal confession was taken in front of a court reporter, Diaz conducted a 30-minute "pre-interview," which was not recorded. (Tr. 1811.) Over objection, Appellant's sworn confession, which had been transcribed by a court reporter, was read to the jury. (Tr. 1815 et seq.) Appellant stated that Cooper planned the robbery on May 20, 1991, and that he, Cooper, and another person named Eric were going to participate. (Tr. 1820.)<sup>7</sup> Appellant was armed with a .38 pistol and Cooper was armed with a .380 semiautomatic pistol. (Tr. 1822-22.) The two arrived at the pawnshop at 4:45 p.m. on May 25, 1991. (Tr. 1823.) Once the shop had no remaining customers, Appellant and Cooper pulled out their weapons and said, "freeze." (Tr. 1826.) According to Appellant, Cooper then opened fire at the pawnshop owner and shot him seven times. (Tr. 1826.) Appellant proceeded to fire five shots at the owner. After placing the spent shell casings in his pocket, Appellant reloaded his pistol with one more bullet and fired a sixth shot at the owner's head. Appellant stated that he missed the owner's head and instead hit a nearby toolbox. (Tr. 1826-27.)<sup>8</sup> Appellant then "jumped accross the counter and began to [taking] guns and money." (Tr. 1827.) Appellant's confession stated that Cooper "just freaked out" when he shot the pawnshop owner, implying that the shooting was not planned. (Tr. 1831.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Appellant's confession made no further reference to Eric.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> As noted, Cooper's confession stated that Appellant's sixth shot hit Barker in the head.

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