## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SIDJ. WHITE

**CASE NO.** 86,134

CLERK OURREME COURT

SEP 20 1996

Dv

TIVAN JOHNSON,

Appellant,

vs.

#### THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

## BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

## RANDALL SUTTON

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0766070 Office of Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 950 Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5654

#

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

<u>Neil/Slappy</u><sup>8</sup> challenge to the exercise of a peremptory strike. If a party makes a timely objection, indicating the protected class to which the juror belongs, the court must conduct an inquiry of the other party's reasons for the strike. <u>Melbourne</u>, slip op. at 7. That is precisely what occurred below with regard to juror Darias:

> [PROSECUTOR]: The State will challenge that. She's a female and may be hispanic.

THE COURT: What grounds?

(T. 994). Contrary to Defendant's suggestions, the court properly conducted a <u>Neil</u> inquiry under the circumstances.<sup>9</sup> Defense counsel then offered the following reasons:

She has been on a prior civil jury. She has been the victim of a car theft. She has -- I got the impression she had a problem with -from her responses with a presumption of innocence, as well as this is my impression. I can't necessarily give any more than that, and I tend to think that she would be too intelligent for the case.

(T. 994). The trial court rejected the reasons. Id.

The Court explained in <u>Melbourne</u>, slip op. at 8-9, that the

<sup>8</sup> <u>State v. Slappy</u>, 522 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1988).

Regardless of whether Darias was hispanic, (B. 43 n.24), she was clearly a woman, which the state articulated as the basis for its objection. focus of the court's determination is not the reasonableness of the reason, but its genuineness. Further, because the trial court's determination turns primarily on assessments of credibility, they will be affirmed on appeal unless clearly erroneous. <u>Id.</u> at 9-10.

Here, the trial court plainly did not believe that defense counsel's reasons were genuine. Defendant has failed to show that the judge's determination was clearly erroneous.<sup>10</sup> A review of the record shows that the proffered reasons were either wholly unsupported by the record, or in light of the factors set forth in <u>Slappy</u>, plainly pretextual.

# Darias's alleged problem with the presumption of innocence.

This "reason" is wholly without record support. Although counsel inquired extensively about the presumption of innocence, (T. 883-892, 894-901, 981), Darias was never asked any question on the subject. The only statement Darias ever made even tangentially relating to the presumption of innocence was her response to a question about the State's burden of proof. Darias stated that she

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Indeed, Defendant has failed to offer any fact- or record-specific basis for his contention that the court erred, devoting instead all but one paragraph of his 4½-page argument to the preservation issue.

had no problem with holding the State to its burden, and that if the State failed to prove even one element of any of the crimes charged, "[t]here will be a reasonable doubt." (T. 893).

#### Darias's prior civil jury service.

Although the record reflects that Darias did, in fact serve on a civil jury, (T. 792), the trial court properly determined this Among the factors cited in <u>Slappy</u> basis to be pretextual. supporting this conclusion were the complete absence of any questioning of Darias on the issue, despite discussing prior jury service with other jurors. (T. 902, 913, 935, 1143). Furthermore, five of the remaining jurces or alternates who served on the jury without objection had prior jury service, (T. 788, 790, 791, 998), and one juror with prior experience was stricken by the State over defense objection. (T. 791, 993). Nor is there any apparent relationship between prior civil jury service and the crimes As such the trial court properly concluded that this charged. basis for striking Darias was pretextual. <u>Slappy;</u> Melbourne.

#### Darias's status as the victim of a car theft.

As with the prior jury service, the car-theft claim also manifests many of the <u>Slappy</u> indicia of pretext. <u>Ten</u> others seated

as jurors or alternates all had been the victims of crime, (T. 793-95, 1005-07, 1009, 1012), several of crimes more serious than car theft, <u>e.g.</u>, armed robbery <u>and</u> car theft, (T. 1009), armed robbery and burglary. (T. 795). Additionally, the defense opposed a State peremptory of a juror who had been mugged. (T. 797, 993). Plainly these personal crimes bear more of a relationship to the murder and robbery for which the defendants were on trial than does an auto theft. Finally, despite extensively questioning other jurors about their experiences as victims of crime, (T. 911-13, 926-28, 936, 948-49, 1120, 1128-35, 1150, 1153), Darias was again not inquired of regarding this alleged reason for striking her. The trial court's conclusion of pretext is well-supported. <u>Slappy</u>, <u>Melbourne</u>.

# Darias's allegedly being too intelligent for the case.

Accepting this as a valid neutral basis for a strike, the record also shows this reason for striking Darias to be pretextual. Perhaps the strongest indication of the pretextual nature of this reason was counsel's own basis for opposing a State motion to challenge juror Garwood, a college professor, for cause based upon scheduling conflicts:

She's a bright and intelligent juror. I want

to keep her here.

(T. 647). Further, in addition to appearing to be an afterthought, intelligence, at least if judged by the evidence of education or accomplishment, was shared with jurors who served. Several jurors had either baccalaureate or masters degrees, (T. 801, 904, 1152), in such diverse fields as music, computer science and international business. <u>Id.</u> One was the director of an institute for advanced industry. (T. 1014). In view of the foregoing, the trial court properly determined that the reasons advanced by defense counsel were pretextual. As Defendant failed to preserve his second issue for review, and further has failed to show clear error, even if the claim were properly before the court, this contention must be rejected.

III.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING A STATE WITNESS TO EXPLAIN WHY THE DEFENDANTS WERE IN CUSTODY FOR 12 HOURS BEFORE THEY GAVE THEIR CONFESSIONS TO THE POLICE.

Defendant's third claim is that his convictions should be reversed because a police witness briefly explained, after a cautionary instruction was given, why 12 hours had elapsed between Defendant's arrest and the giving of his statement was that police were interviewing witnesses, including Defendant, regarding another, unrelated matter. The comment was proper under the circumstances, and even if error, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Before Detective Saladrigas testified, the jury was given the following cautionary instruction:

This detective is going to testify as to how he came in contact with the defendants in this case.

Now, for the purposes of establishing time, I have ruled that I am going to allow them to talk about this, but it's a totally unrelated matter that first came to the attention of the police.

Now, I want you to make sure that you realize that that unrelated matter has nothing at all to do with this case, nothing, not a [sic] fact, not a [sic] law, nothing. It just was an unrelated matter unimportant as to why, when, where or how, but that it was being done so that there is a logical sequence of how the detective came in contact with the defendants.

(T. 1524). The detective's testimony then proceeded as follows:

Q. Did there come a time, Sergeant Saladrigas, back in June, June 14, 15, 16 of 1991, in that time frame, where you were investigating a matter having nothing to do with the murder of Charles Barker?

A. Yes, sir, there was.

Q. In the course of your investigation, did you and your team members -- by the way, did you utilize a lead detective team method also to investigate your matters?

A. Yes. The department, as a rule, uses that, yes.

Q. Did you and your team members have occasion to interview some people at the Hidden Gardens Apartment complex down in South Dade?

A. Yes, we did.

Q. And did you also have an occasion to interview certain friends and/or acquaintances of Tivan Johnson and Albert Cooper?

A. Yes, sir, we did.

Q. Based upon these various interviews that had been conducted, did you find it necessary to also interview Mr. Cooper and Mr. Johnson?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. By the way who does the typing?

A. The same stenographers that take the statement.

Q. Does it take them time to interview everybody, have it recorded stenographically, have it typed up, and then have it read back to the six or seven other people?

A. Yes.

Q. After you concluded your investigation, did there come a time when you advised Detective Pat Diaz [the lead detective on the Barker murder case] that he might want to interview Mr. Cooper and Mr. Johnson on his matter?

A. Yes.

Q. Was this some time later? Was this a short time, a long time? I mean how long did your matter take?

A. Ten to 12 hours.

[PROSECUTOR]: No further questions, your honor.

(T. 1524-29).

The foregoing refutes Defendant's contention that the jury was informed or led to believe that Defendant had prior convictions or adverse contact with law enforcement. There was no reference to what the matter being investigated was. The detective at no point mentioned the bureau for which he worked or the nature of the "other matter." Contrary to Defendant's assertions, the fact that he had a team did not indicate the nature of the matter; rather, the detective testified that working in teams was standard department practice. There was no indication as to whether Defendant and Cooper were suspects or merely, like the others interviewed, witnesses. There was no mention of any charges or of the fact that Defendant had been convicted of the "other matter." In short it is simply unreasonable, particularly in view of the court's cautionary instruction, to conclude that the detective's testimony led the jury to believe Defendant had other convictions.<sup>11</sup>

In any event, assuming <u>arguendo</u> that the detective's testimony could lead to the conclusion in the jurors' minds that Defendant posits, he himself notes that collateral crimes evidence is inadmissible "where its <u>sole</u> relevancy" is to attack the defendant's character or show propensity. (B. 49, quoting <u>Vasquez</u> <u>v. State</u>, 405 So. 2d 177 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981)) (emphasis supplied). Here, the evidence was relevant to explain why 12 hours had elapsed between the time of arrest and the commencement of Defendant's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> On the contrary, at least one juror was "flabbergasted" when he inadvertently learned, during the hiatus between the guilty verdict and the penalty phase, that the defendants had previously been convicted of another murder. (T. 2501).

formal stenographically recorded statement. It is the State's burden to prove to the jury that the defendant's statement was voluntary. The jury was given the standard instruction to that effect:

> Defendants' statements. Statements claimed to have been made by the defendants outside of court has [sic] been placed before you. Such statements should always be considered with caution and be weighed with great care to make certain it was [sic] freely and voluntarily made.

> Therefore, you must determine from the evidence that the defendants' alleged statements were knowingly, voluntarily and freely made.

> In making this determination, <u>you should</u> <u>consider the total circumstances</u>, including, but not limited to, whether, when the defendants made the statements, they had been threatened in order to get them to make them; and two, whether anyone had promised them anything in order to get them to make them.

> If you conclude the defendants' out-ofcourt statements were not freely and voluntarily made, you should disregard them.

(T. 2396).

Thus, regardless of the defense's willingness to avoid the issue, it cannot be assumed, especially in this day of media

attention given to alleged police misconduct, 12 that the jury would speculate as to just what had occurred during the 12 not unexplained hours that the defendants were in police custody before confessing. Further, although the defense did not argue that the confessions were improper because of the time lag, Defendant did take the stand and claim other police impropriety, namely that they threatened his wife and step-child, and that as a result, he merely parroted what the police told him to. As such the State was fully justified in explaining why 12 hours elapsed between arrest and formal statement. <u>See</u> Henry v. State, 649 So. 2d 1361, 1365 (Fla.1994) (evidence of other criminal activity admissible if necessary to avoid confusion or misapprehension of the relevant facts); <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 244, 251 (Fla. 1995) (admission of other crimes evidence proper to place matters in context); Griffin v. State, 639 So. 2d 966, 969 (Fla. 1994) (same).

Finally, even if the testimony should not have been admitted, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. It would simply be unreasonable to conclude that this brief testimony, consuming

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> A certain trial of some notoriety, in which vast police impropriety was alleged, was under way in California at the same time as the trial below.

less than 4 full pages of transcript out of a six-day trial, could have affected the verdict. As noted above, no explicit comment that Defendant was actually involved in any other crimes was even On the other hand, virtually the first thing out of made. Defendant's mouth upon assuming the stand was that he had previously been convicted of a crime, "four counts." (T. 2063). Further, as previously noted, in addition to Defendant's detailed recorded confession and statements to non-police witnesses regarding his involvement in Barker's murder, there was forensic evidence, including ballistics and fingerprints tying him to the The only defense raised was a cockamamie story of selfcrime. defense, in which Defendant himself claimed he was involved in some sort of illegal firearms trafficking with his victim. There is no reasonable probability that the exclusion of Saladrigas's testimony would have affected the verdict. See Haliburton v. State, 561 So. 2d 248, 251 (Fla. 1990)(improper testimony by witness that defendant had raped her harmless in light of strength of State's case); Craig v. State, 585 So. 2d 278, 280 (Fla. 1991) (irrelevant evidence that defendant obtained and used cocaine on night of murder harmless in light of substantial evidence of guilt); Lawrence v. State, 614 So. 2d 1092, 1095 (Fla. 1993)(improper testimony regarding defendant's cocaine use and "jiggling" of old

ladies for money harmless were reference was brief and did not become a feature of the trial); <u>Mordenti v. State</u>, 630 So. 2d 1080, 1084-85 (Fla. 1994) (reference to defendant's purported "mob" association harmless where not emphasized). Under the circumstances, this claim must be rejected.

# ANY INADVERTENT VIEWING BY THE JURY OF DEFENDANT IN SHACKLES WHILE BEING TRANSPORTED TO THE COURTROOM WAS NOT REVERSIBLE ERROR.

Defendant's fourth claim is that the trial court should have granted a mistrial after the jury allegedly saw him in the court house hallway in shackles. This claim is without merit.

Defendant relies upon cases that hold it is improper to make a defendant stand trial while shackled or in prison garb. However, Defendant here was not shackled before the jury during trial. The jury merely was alleged to have briefly seen Defendant on one or two occasions while he was being transported to the court room. Such does not present a basis for reversal. Neary v. State, 384 So. 2d 881, 885 (Fla. 1980) (viewing of defendant in restraints while being transported to court room not grounds for mistrial where not restrained at trial); Heiney v. State, 447 So. 2d 210, 214 (Fla. <u>Hildwin v. Dugger</u>, 531 So. 2d 124, 126 (Fla. 1984) (same); 2d 260, 265 (Fla. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 545 So. 1988) (same); 1989)(same); <u>Allen v. Montgomery</u>, 728 F.2d 1409, 1413-14 (11th Cir. 1984) (same). Furthermore, even if error occurred, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the strength of the State's case, as discussed <u>supra</u>.

IV.

NO ERROR, FUNDAMENTAL OR OTHERWISE, OCCURRED AS A RESULT OF THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO GIVE A SPECIAL VERDICT FORM TO THE JURY REGARDING WHETHER DEFENDANT WAS GUILTY OF FELONY OR PREMEDITATED MURDER.

Defendant's fifth claim is that the trial court committed fundamental error in failing to give a special verdict form to the jury regarding whether defendant was guilty of felony or premeditated murder. This claim does not present fundamental error, is not preserved for review, and is wholly without merit.

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